72852-1

NO. 72852-1-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFERY BRINKLEY,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Eric Z. Lucas, Judge

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373



##

#### Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Although under current state and federal law, a judge rather than a jury may find the fact of a prior conviction, the POAA requires more. The POAA requires a factual finding of a series of temporal relationships between the prior convictions, the underlying prior offenses, and the conviction/offense being punished by life imprisonment without the possibility of release.

In imposing the life sentence in this case, did the superior court violate the appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to have a jury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 9.94A.570 ("Notwithstanding the statutory maximum sentence or any other provision of this chapter, a persistent offender shall be sentenced to a term of total confinement for life without the possibility of release."); <u>see also</u> RCW 9.94A.030(37)(a)(i), (ii) (defining "[p]ersistent offender" based on offender's commission of, and conviction for, three "most serious offenses," provided that before the *commission* of the offense receiving the POAA sentence, the offender was convicted on at least two separate occasions of most serious offenses, and provided that at least one of those *convictions* occurred before the commission of any of the other prior most serious offense convictions).

determine all the facts necessary to find he was a "persistent offender" under the POAA?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State charged Jeffrey Brinkley with the first degree robbery, second degree kidnapping, and second degree assault of Kenny Easley.<sup>2</sup> CP 74-75. A jury convicted Brinkley as charged. CP 58. Finding Brinkley a persistent offender, the court sentenced Brinkley to life without the possibility of release. CP 61; Appendix (excerpt from original 1/24/13 sentencing hearing).<sup>3</sup>

Brinkley appealed. CP 44-55 (mandate and opinion of this Court in case no. 69851-6-I). He argued the jury was instructed on an uncharged alternative means of committing first degree robbery. CP 48. In the alternative, he argued the assault elevated the robbery to the first degree, the assault had no independent purpose or effect, and thus the trial court violated the prohibition on double jeopardy by failing to merge the offenses. CP 51. As to the first argument, this Court agreed but found the error was harmless. CP 49-50. As to the second argument, this Court agreed and concluded that "[b]ecause Brinkley's assault conviction

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The information did not allege Brinkley was a persistent offender, although the State notified him of the allegation before trial. CP 74-75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A motion to transfer the verbatim report of the sentencing hearing to this appeal is being filed contemporaneously with this brief.

merges into the robbery conviction, we remand with instructions to vacate the assault conviction and for resentencing." CP 55.

Resentencing occurred on November 11, 2014. RP 1. At the hearing, Brinkley argued that imposition of a life sentence under the POAA would violate the requirement under Apprendi v. New Jersey<sup>4</sup> and Blakely v. Washington<sup>5</sup> that a jury find any fact that increases the penalty for the crime beyond the statutory maximum. CP 20. Brinkley argued that the exception for prior offenses did not apply because the POAA, in contrast to calculation of offender score under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), chapter 9.94A RCW, required findings relating to the "temporal" relationship between the current offense and the prior offenses and convictions, as well as the temporal relationship between the prior offenses and convictions. CP 20, 23. In other words, under the POAA the offense pattern must have occurred as follows: offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction  $\rightarrow$ offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction  $\rightarrow$  offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction. See CP 22 (making similar argument to sentencing court); see also RCW 9.94A.030(37)(a)(i), (ii) (listing prior conviction requirements, including temporal relationships between dates of conviction and dates of commission of offense). Brinkley pointed out such necessary findings placed the POAA outside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

scope of the "fact of criminal conviction" exception under <u>Apprendi</u>. Moreover, prior appellate cases challenging the validity under the POAA did not control because they did not address this specific issue. CP 24-25.

Holding it was bound by prior Washington case law upholding judicial fact finding under the POAA, the sentencing court rejected Brinkley's argument and entered an order amending the judgment and sentence to dismiss the assault conviction. CP 18. The POAA life sentences on the other counts remained in effect. CP 8.

Brinkley timely appeals. CP 1-2.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE SENTENCING COURT VIOLATED BRINKLEY'S STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WHEN A JUDGE, RATHER THAN A JURY, MADE A FINDING THAT HE WAS A "PERSISTENT OFFENDER" UNDER THE POAA.

The superior court violated Brinkley's right to have a jury determine whether he was "persistent offender" under RCW 9.94A.030(37)(a) because that determination required the judge to make factual findings beyond the "fact of prior conviction." Because no mechanism exists for a jury to make such a finding, moreover, this Court should remand for sentencing within the standard range.

#### 1. <u>The state and federal constitutions require a jury to find any</u> <u>fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the</u> <u>standard range.</u>

In <u>Apprendi</u>, the United States Supreme Court held that, based on the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and the Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury "other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." 530 U.S. at 476, 490.<sup>6</sup>

Later, in <u>Blakely</u>, 542 U.S. at 313-14, the Court held that a sentence above the standard range, imposed based on a judge's finding of deliberate cruelty, violated the right of an accused to trial by jury under the Sixth Amendment. Following <u>Apprendi</u>, the new question for the Court was whether "the prescribed statutory maximum" for <u>Apprendi</u> purposes was the top of the standard range, or rather the statutory maximum term of 120 months. The Court determined that "the statutory maximum for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Article I, section 21 provides that the right to jury trial shall remain "inviolate." Article I, section 22 provides: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to . . . have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed." In <u>State v. Smith</u>, 150 Wn.2d 135, 156, 75 P.3d 934 (2003), the Court held that while the Washington constitution "generally offers broader protection of the jury trial right . . . a historical analysis of Washington law at the time of the adoption . . . indicates that juries did not then determine sentences." The Court therefore rejected an argument that the state constitution separately prohibited judicial fact finding under the POAA. Id.

<u>Apprendi</u> purposes is the maximum sentence a judge may impose without any additional findings. 542 U.S. at 303-04 (internal quotations omitted).

Both cases nonetheless preserved the rule set forth in <u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224, 244, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998), which held that the "fact of" a prior conviction need not be pleaded in an indictment or proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 490 (noting that Court was not overruling <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> as to findings related to recidivism, but characterizing such as a "narrow exception to the general rule"); <u>Blakely</u>, 542 U.S. at 301 (repeating rule, and exception, set forth in <u>Apprendi</u>).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> But see Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 487, 489-90 (noting "prior conviction" exception was at best "an exceptional departure from" historic sentencing practice, and stating that it is "arguable that Almendarez-Torres was incorrectly decided, and that a logical application of our reasoning today should apply if the recidivist issue were contested"); see also id. at 518-19 (Thomas, J., concurring) (concluding that Almendarez-Torres was wrongly decided); Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13, 27-28, 125 S. Ct. 1254, 161 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2005) (Thomas, J., concurring in part and in the judgment) (observing that "a majority of the Court now recognizes that Almendarez-Torres was wrongly decided" and suggesting that, "in an appropriate case, this Court should consider Almendarez-Torres' continuing viability"); State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 306, 286 P.3d 996 (2012) (Quinn-Brintnall, J., dissenting) ("Two recent . . . opinions, Oregon v. Ice, 555 U.S. 160, 129 S. Ct. 711, 172 L. Ed. 2d 517 (2009), and Southern Union Co. v. United States, U.S. , 132 S. Ct. 2344, 183 L. Ed. 2d 318 (2012), cast further doubt on the constitutionality of having a trial court, rather than a jury, decide whether prior convictions are proven by a preponderance of the evidence as, *historically*, juries made this determination under recidivist statutes like the POAA."), aff'd, 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014), as corrected (Aug. 11, 2014).

Since Apprendi and Blakely were decided, Washington courts have repeatedly held that, for the purposes of imposing a life sentence under the POAA, a judge, not a jury, may make the required findings on the grounds that such findings fall under the "fact of prior conviction" exception. See State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 892, 329 P.3d 888 (2014), as corrected, (Aug. 11, 2014) (citing State v. McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802, 803 n. 1, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011) (citing three prior cases and stating "[w]e decline to review the issue again here")); In re Pers. Restraint of Lavery, 154 Wn.2d 249, 256, 111 P.3d 837 (2005) ("In applying Apprendi, we have held that the existence of a prior conviction need not be presented to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt."); State v. Smith, 150 Wn.2d 135, 139, 75 P.3d 934 (2003) (prior convictions fall under Almendarez-Torres "fact of prior conviction" exception); cf. State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 677, 681-84, 921 P.2d 473 (1996) (in accord with other SRA provisions, appropriate standard of proof under the POAA is by a preponderance of the evidence: POAA does not violate state or federal due process by not requiring prior "strike" offenses to be found by a jury).

But, as Brinkley argued below, no Washington case has explicitly addressed whether the temporal relationships between the each of the convictions and the underlying crimes are necessarily included within the

-7-

"fact of prior conviction" exception. <u>See In re Electric Lightwave, Inc.</u>, 123 Wn.2d 530, 541, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994) ("[Courts] do not rely on cases that fail to specifically raise or decide an issue."). Thus, to Brinkley's knowledge, he now presents this Court with an issue of first impression.

> 2. <u>The "fact of a prior conviction" exception is narrow in</u> <u>scope and the findings necessary under RCW</u> <u>9.94A.030(37)(a) fall outside the exception.</u>

Because Brinkley is aware of no Washington case addressing this issue, it is appropriate for this Court to rely on persuasive authority from other jurisdictions. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of King</u>, 54 Wn. App. 50, 53, 772 P.2d 521 (1989).

The Ninth Circuit has been "hesitant to broaden the scope of the prior conviction exception to facts not apparent on the face of conviction documents." <u>Butler v. Curry</u>, 528 F.3d 624, 644-45 (9th Cir. 2008) (citing <u>United States v. Kortgaard</u>, 425 F.3d 602, 610 (9th Cir. 2005) (concluding that <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> prior conviction exception was a "narrow exception to the general rule")). For example, the prior conviction exception does not extend to "qualitative evaluations of the nature or seriousness of past crimes, because such determinations cannot be made solely by looking to the documents of conviction." <u>Butler</u>, 528 F.3d at 644 (citing <u>Kortgaard</u>, 425 F.3d at 607 (holding that "seriousness" of past crimes and "likelihood of recidivism" are not facts that come within the

"prior conviction" exception); <u>Stokes v. Schriro</u>, 465 F.3d 397, 404 (9th Cir. 2006) (holding that the determination whether the present offense is "strikingly similar" to a past offense does not come within the "prior conviction" exception)).

Nor does the exception apply to proceedings lacking Sixth Amendment protections. Butler, 528 F.3d at 646 (holding that under California probation system, probation status may be altered at any time and in proceeding absent Sixth Amendment protections, and therefore probation status falls outside "prior conviction" exception); United States v. Tighe, 266 F.3d 1187, 1193-95 (9th Cir.2001) ("[T]he 'prior conviction' exception to Apprendi's general rule must be limited to prior convictions that were themselves obtained through proceedings that included the right to a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt.") (citing Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 496); United States v. Covian-Sandoval, 462 F.3d 1090, 1097-98 (9th Cir. 2006) (holding that prior removal proceedings are not within the exception because they "are civil, not criminal, lacking both juries and the reasonable doubt standard"), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1301 (2007); see also Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 249, 119 S. Ct. 1215, 143 L. Ed. 2d 311 (1999) ("[A] prior conviction must itself have been established through procedures satisfying the fair notice, reasonable doubt, and jury trial guarantees.").

In United States v. Salazar-Lopez, 506 F.3d 748 (9th Cir. 2007), cert. denied, 553 U.S. 1074 (2008), the Court addressed a conviction under 8 U.S.C. 1326(b)(1), which raises the maximum term for illegal reentry from two to ten years if the relevant prior "removal [i]s subsequent to a conviction for commission of . . . a felony." A jury had found Salazar was removed from the United States at some point, but was not required to find the date of that removal. Salazar-Lopez, 506 F.3d at 751. The Court held that a district judge could determine whether there was a prior felony conviction without committing Apprendi error, but that the *timing* of the later removal must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Salazar-Lopez, 506 F.3d at 751-52. This was so even though the statutory maximum was based in part on the fact and timing of a prior conviction reflected in conviction documents, and even though the date of the later removal was reflected in documents from an immigration court. Id. at 752.

<u>Salazar-Lopez</u> demonstrates how a finding as to the relative timing of an event—even though a date may appear on a court document—may exceed the scope of permissible judicial fact-finding. Here, Brinkley's prior conviction documents establish that the prior convictions were entered on July 1, 1996 (judgment and sentence noting crime occurred "3/30/96") and January 29, 1999 (noting crimes occurred "November 26,

-10-

1998"). Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (sub no. 105, State's Response to Defense Response, at Exhibits A and B); see also Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (sub nos. 58 and 59, certified copies of judgment and sentence submitted to original sentencing court).

But even though a date of conviction may be listed on the judgment and sentence form, there is no indication of how that date was determined, or its accuracy. For example, where time is not a material element of the charged crime, the language "on or about" in a charging document is sufficient to permit proof of the act at any time within the statute of limitations, where an alibi defense is not asserted. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hayes</u>, 81 Wn. App. 425, 432, 914 P.2d 788 (1996). The statute of limitations for any felony is no less than three years. RCW 9A.04.080(1)(h). It is worth noting that, for example, Brinkley's prior convictions are dated less than three years apart.

To impose the POAA sentence, the finder of fact is required to determine not only the temporal relationship between the convictions and offenses but also, necessarily, the dates of commission of those offenses.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> <u>Cf. State v. Newlum</u>, 142 Wn. App. 730, 742, 176 P.3d 529 (2008) (to impose exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c), based on commission of multiple current offenses and high offender score, sentencing court need only find the fact of the defendant's convictions to impose sentence; current offenses are to be treated as "prior convictions" under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a)).

But the date listed on the judgment and sentence may or may not coincide with the precise date of the commission of the offense.

This Court's recent decision in, State v. Irby, is instructive in this Wn. App., P.3d , 2015 WL 1787896 (Apr. 20, respect. 2015). There, this Court rejected the State's argument that a 1976 statutory rape conviction was comparable to a second degree rape of a child, a most serious offense, for purposes of the POAA. Id. at \*11-13. This Court observed that both offenses require proof that the victim was less than 14 years old at the time of the offense. But one of the elements of statutory rape was that the offender was over 16 years old. To be convicted of second degree rape of a child, however, the offender may be younger than 16, as long as he or she is at least 36 months older than the complainant. Moreover, statutory rape was defined to include 11-year-old complainants, while only 12- and 13-year-olds are included in the current offense. Thus, this Court recognized, the offenses are not legally comparable. Id. at \*12.

Regarding the second possible method of demonstrating comparability, this Court recognized that factual comparability implicated <u>Apprendi</u>. And the underlying facts of the 1976 conviction proved factual comparability only if the record showed they were admitted, stipulated to, or found by the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Irby</u>, 2015 WL

-12-

1787896 at \*12 (citing <u>State v. Ortega</u>, 120 Wn. App. 165, 172, 84 P.3d 935 (2004), <u>review granted in part and remanded</u>, 154 Wn.2d 1031, 119 P.3d 852 (2005)).

The statutory rape verdict stated that Irby was "[g]uilty as charged in the Information." The information charged that Irby, on May 31, 1976, in Chelan County, "being over [16] years of age, did then and there engage in sexual intercourse with [complainant], not being married to [complainant], who was [13] years of age." The information was filed on July 8, 1976.

The documents showed the jury found the complainant was 13 on May 31, 1976, and that Irby was at least 16. But the jury did not find Irby was more than 36 months older than the complainant on that date. Based on the allegation in the charging document, Irby may have been only 16 and the complainant may have been one day short of 14. The information and verdict together did not prove a 36-month difference between their ages. Id. at 12.

In the superior court, the trial court found Irby's date of birth established by certified records from *other* court cases and concluded that Irby was almost 18 when the crime was committed. This Court noted that on appeal, "the State correctly does not pursue this argument as it depends on judicial fact-finding, which is impermissible under <u>Apprendi</u>."

-13-

Without the additional fact-finding, the trial court was not authorized to count the 1976 conviction as a "strike" under RCW 9.94A.030(37) and use it to increase the penalty for first degree burglary to life without parole. 2015 WL 1787896 at 12 (citing <u>Ortega</u>, 120 Wn. App. at 171-72).

On appeal, the State argued that a 36-month age disparity between Irby and his 1976 victim was proved by documents showing the information was filed in superior court on July 8, 1976 and juvenile court law did not permit individuals under the age of 18 to be charged in superior court. "Since he was at least age eighteen when the case was filed, he was also at least age seventeen when the offense occurred just under a month and a half before it was filed." <u>Id</u>. at 13.

This Court rejected this argument as well, holding that "it supplies a finding on a factual issue that was not before the jury in 1976. . . . In 1976, the State had no reason to convince the jury that Irby was 18, and Irby had no reason to prove he was not." <u>Id</u>. at 13 (citing <u>Lavery</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 249). The fact of Irby's date of birth was not found by the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt and consequently "may not be used to increase the penalty of a subsequent conviction beyond the statutory maximum." <u>Id</u>. at 13 (quoting <u>Ortega</u>, 120 Wn. App. at 172).

Here, likewise, based on the court documents, under the fact of prior conviction exception, the sentencing judge was entitled to find that prior convictions had occurred in 1996 and 1999. But a jury should have been required to find the additional facts beyond a reasonable doubt, <u>i.e.</u>, the requisite "offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction  $\rightarrow$  offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction  $\rightarrow$  offense  $\rightarrow$  conviction" temporal relationship. Such a finding is, in turn, dependent on the dates of commission of the offenses. RCW 9.94A.030(37)(a). As in <u>Irby</u>, Brinkley or another defendant in his position may have had no incentive to challenge a date of offense on conviction paperwork. As in both <u>Salazar-Lopez</u> and <u>Irby</u>, the required factual determination reaches beyond the narrow "fact of prior conviction" exception and thus requires proof to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

# 3. <u>The remedy is remand for sentencing within the</u> standard range.

To impose the life sentence, the trial judge had to make factual findings regarding the necessary temporal relationships beyond the mere "fact" of the prior conviction. Under the state and federal constitutions, however, a jury was required to make this finding beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should reverse the sentence based on improper judicial fact finding. Trial courts do not have inherent authority to empanel sentencing juries. <u>State v. Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469-70, 150 P.3d

1130 (2007).<sup>9</sup> Accordingly, this Court should remand for sentencing within the standard range.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The judge's imposition of the POAA sentence exceeded the scope of permissible judicial fact finding at sentencing. This Court should remand for the imposition of a standard range sentence.

DATED this 13 day of May, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

ZENNIFER WINKLER WSBA No. 35220 Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Under RCW 9.94A.537(2), "[i]n any case where an exceptional sentence above the standard range was imposed and where a new sentencing hearing is required, the superior court may impanel a jury to consider any alleged aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3), that were relied upon by the superior court in imposing the previous sentence, at the new sentencing hearing." A POAA sentence is not an exceptional sentence, <u>State v. Ball</u>, 127 Wn. App. 956, 960, 113 P.3d 520 (2005), review denied, 156 Wn.2d 1018 (2006), nor is it imposed based on an aggravating factor under RCW 9.94A.535(3).