FILED
July 29, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72852-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JEFFREY L. BRINKLEY,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 1, 2011, Kenny Easley came to the property where the defendant, Jeffrey Brinkley, was living. Mr. Easley intended to collect a drug debt. With an accomplice, the defendant dragged Mr. Easley to a basement and threatened him with a gun. They robbed him of money, a car, a firearm, jewelry, and drugs. As a result of these acts, a jury found the defendant guilty of first degree robbery, second degree kidnapping, and second degree assault. CP 45-47.

At sentencing, the State submitted certified copies of two prior judgments. The first was a King County conviction of first degree robbery. According to the judgment, the robbery was committed on March 30, 1996. The defendant pleaded guilty on May 30. The judgment was filed on July 1. 2 CP 111-17.

The second judgment was a Spokane County conviction for second degree robbery and second degree assault. According to the judgment, these crimes were committed on November 26,

1998. The defendant pleaded guilty on January 29, 1999. The judgment was filed that same day. 2 CP 99-109.

The defendant was sentenced in the present case on January 25, 2013. The court sentenced him as a persistent offender to life imprisonment on each charge. 1 CP 58-68. On appeal, this court determined that the assault conviction constituted double jeopardy. It therefore vacated that conviction and remanded for resentencing. The court rejected challenges to the other two convictions. No issue concerning persistent offender sentencing was raised. 1 CP 44-55.

On remand, the defendant argued that he was entitled to a jury finding of facts necessary to establish his status as a persistent offender. 1 CP 28-43, 19-46; 11/21/14 RP 3-5. The court held that these arguments were foreclosed by precedent. 11/21/14 11-12. It amended the judgment to show dismissal of the assault count. The life sentences on the other two counts were left in effect. 1 CP 16-18.

III. ARGUMENT

THE "PRIOR CONVICTION" EXCEPTION OF <u>APPRENDI</u> ENCOMPASSES FACTS "INTIMATELY RELATED" TO THOSE CONVICTIONS.

The defendant claims that his sentencing as a habitual criminal violated the rule of <u>Apprendi</u>: "Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 491, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). The defendant argues that he could not be sentenced as a persistent offender without a jury trial with regard to his prior convictions.

Similar claims have been consistently rejected by Washington courts:

[I]t is settled law in this state that the procedures of the [Persistent Offender Accountability Act] do not violate federal or state due process. Neither the federal nor state constitution requires that previous strike offenses be proved to a jury. Furthermore, the proper standard of proof for prior convictions is by a preponderance of the evidence.

State v. Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d 875, 893 ¶ 37, 329 P.3d 888 (2014). Any change in this rule would have to come from the Washington or U.S. Supreme Court, not this court.

The U.S. Supreme Court has not required jury trials with respect to "the fact of a prior conviction." Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 491; Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). This "prior conviction" exception arises from Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998). The court noted there that recidivism is "a traditional, if not the most traditional, basis for a sentencing court's increasing an offender's sentence." The court found no constitutional requirement for jury findings with respect to recidivism. Id. at 243-44. The Washington persistent offender statute is a recidivism statute, which falls within this rationale.

The defendant nonetheless argues that persistent offender sentencing requires consideration of more than the "fact of conviction." Specifically, persistent offender sentencing requires that the prior convictions follow a particular sequence:

"Persistent offender" is an offender who:

- (a)(i) Has been convicted in this state of any felony considered a most serious offense; and
- (ii) Has, before the commission of the offense under (a) of this subsection, been convicted as an offender on at least two separate occasions ... of felonies that under the laws of this state would be considered most serious offenses ...; provided that of the two or more previous convictions, at least one conviction must have occurred before the commission of any of the

other most serious offenses for which the offender was previously convicted...

RCW 9.94A.030(38).

To determine whether a person is a persistent offender under this definition, the court must determine the dates of the prior convictions – to see if they preceded the commission of the current offense. The court must also determine the date of one of the prior offenses – to see if it followed the date of the other prior conviction. In the present case, all of these facts are set out in the prior judgments. Those judgments include the dates of both the prior offenses and the convictions. 2 CP 99, 111. The defendant argues, however, that it is constitutionally impermissible for the sentencing court to consider those dates.

This defendant's argument is based on a highly restrictive view of the "prior conviction" exception. The Washington Supreme Court has not adopted that view. This is clear from State v. Jones, 159 Wn.2d 231, 149 P.3d 636 (2006). That case involved a statute that increases the offender score for crimes committed while on community supervision. The defendants claimed that they were entitled to jury determinations of that issue. They argued that the "prior conviction" exception did not encompass facts that were

merely "related" to a prior conviction. <u>Id</u>. at 237 ¶ 10. The court rejected this argument:

The prior conviction exception encompasses a determination of the defendant's probation status because probation is a direct derivative of the defendant's prior criminal conviction or convictions and the determination involves nothing more than a review of the defendant's status as a repeat offender. In this regard, the community placement conclusion does not implicate the core concern of Apprendi and Blakely—that is the determination does not involve in any way a finding relating to the present offense conduct for which the State is seeking to impose criminal punishment and/or elements of the charged crime or crimes. To give effect to the prior conviction exception. Washington's sentencing courts must be allowed as a matter of law to determine not only the fact of a prior conviction but also those facts intimately related to the prior conviction such as the defendant's community custody status.

State v. Jones, 159 Wn.2d 231, 241 ¶ 16, 149 P.3d 636 (2006).

The same reasoning applies here. Determining whether a defendant is a persistent offender "involves nothing more than a review of the defendant's status as a repeat offender." To make this determination, the court is entitled to consider "facts intimately related to the prior conviction," such as the dates of the conviction and the underlying offense. Consideration of these facts does not involve any finding related to the present offense. A sentencing

court is entitled to review the prior judgments to determine those facts.

Courts in other jurisdictions have reached similar conclusions. The Illinois Appellate Court considered an identical issue in People v. Rivera, 362 III. App. 3d 815, 841 N.E.2d 532 (2005), review denied, 218 III. 2d 553, 850 N.E.2d 812 (2006). That case involved a statute providing an enhanced sentence if the offender had two prior felony convictions. As under the Washington statute, the felonies had to follow a specific sequence: the second felony had to be committed after conviction on the first, and the third (current) felony had to be committed after conviction on the second. Id., 362 III. App. 3d at 817, 841 N.E.2d at 533, quoting former 730 III. Comp. Stat. § 5/5-5-3(c)(8).

The defendant in <u>Rivera</u> raised the same arguments as in the present case. He claimed that the dates and sequence of the prior convictions fell outside the "prior conviction" exception. <u>Rivera</u>, 362 III. App. 3d at 817, 841 N. E.2d at 534. The court rejected this argument. It held that the findings required by the sentencing statute "are intertwined with recidivism and distinct from the elements of the underlying offense such that the fall under the exception recognized in <u>Apprendi</u>." <u>Id.</u> at 820, 841 N. E.2d at 536.

The Louisiana Court of Appeals reached a similar result in State v. Smith, 913 So.2d 836 (La. App. 2005), review denied, 972 So.2d 1159 (La. 2008). A Louisiana statute provided enhanced sentences for "quadruple offenders." Under the statute, a prior conviction could be counted only if it was committed within 10 years after the expiration of the maximum sentence for the previous conviction. The defendant argued that this factual issue had to be determined by a jury. The court rejected this argument, holding that the issue fell within the "prior conviction" exception of Apprendi. Id. at 839-40.

Other courts have considered statutes that required prior offenses committed on different occasions. That determination can turn on the dates of the offenses. Numerous courts have held that these dates fall within the "prior conviction" exception of Apprendi. E.g., United States v. Elliott, 703 F.3d 378 (7th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 2359 (2013); United States v. Grisel, 488 F.3d 844, 847 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 552 U.S. 970 (2007); United States v. Thompson, 421 F.3d 278, 281-83 (4th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1005 (2006); Commonwealth v. Gordon, 596 Pa. 231, 251, 942 A.2d 174, 186 (2007), cert. denied, 553 U.S. 1024 (2008).

In short, both the "prior conviction" exception is not limited to the bare fact of the conviction itself. Rather, it encompasses "facts intimately related to the prior conviction." <u>Jones</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 241 ¶ 16. As courts in other jurisdictions have recognized, these facts include the dates of the prior convictions and the offenses that led to them. In the present case, these dates established that the defendant was a persistent offender.

IV. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.